ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

KENNETH SAMUEL WILLIAMS,

RECEIVED  
OCT 06 2017  
PETITIONER SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000182

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to object to the court's burden-shifting opening instructions prejudiced petitioner by causing the jury to decide between competing and contradictory versions of the crime using the prohibited mandate to "reach a decision as to where the truth lies" instead of whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt?

## STATEMENT

A Beaufort County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder, first-degree burglary, and strong arm robbery and on July 26, 2010, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper and a jury. App. 1, 10, ll. 5 – 13. Angela McCall-Tanner and James John Bannon represented the State. App. 1. Gene G. Hood represented petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner of all three charges. App. 559, ll. 16 – 24. Judge Cooper sentenced petitioner to a total of thirty years' imprisonment. App. 578, ll. 3 – 9. The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction and the Supreme Court denied certiorari. App. 660.

On July 30, 2014, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 582. On October 17, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. App. 597. James K. Falk represented petitioner. App. 598. Ruston Neely represented the State. App. 598. On December 28, 2016, Judge Nettles denied petitioner's PCR application. App. 659. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to object to the court's burden shifting opening instructions prejudiced petitioner by causing the jury to decide between competing and contradictory versions of the crime using the prohibited mandate to "reach a decision as to where the truth lies" instead of whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt.

"It is critical that jurors understand the proper **application** of the reasonable doubt standard." State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 264, 737 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2012) (emphasis added). The Court should grant certiorari in this PCR case to consider whether a judge's hypothetical examples in a jury charge can distort a jury's application of the reasonable doubt standard and dilute the State's burden of proof. Even well-intentioned phrases and examples—like the one given by the trial judge in this case—can result in prejudicial consequences for a criminal defendant. Such consequences are necessarily driven by the facts of a particular case and, in this specific instance, tipped the balance from what likely would have been an acquittal or a hung jury to a conviction.

In petitioner's case, the jury heard conflicting evidence from the people who were at the crime scene. The State introduced petitioner's statements to police officers. Petitioner did yard work for the octogenarian decedent, Jack Koch ("Koch"). App. 150, ll. 2 – 7. Petitioner also helped Koch acquire sexual services from young women. App. 165, ll. 6 – 20. The day before Koch's death, Koch and petitioner drove around trying to find a young woman for Koch. App. 165, ll. 6 – 20. They were stopped by police and the investigators reviewed the dash camera video showing Koch and petitioner together in Koch's truck. App. 222, ll. 3 – 25. They told the police they were looking for a housekeeper for Koch. App. 166, ll. 3 – 11.

Petitioner spent the next day partying with Timothy Skinner (“Skinner”). App. 168, ll. 5 – 7. Petitioner and Skinner were with two girls. App. 247, ll. 1 – 7. One of the girls, Jenny Chase (“Jenny”) was Skinner’s girlfriend. App. 315, ll. 18 – 20. The other girl, Lisa Schoenemann (“Lisa”), admitted drinking alcohol and using crack cocaine during the party. App. 296, l. 17 – 297, l. 8. Skinner, Jenny, and Lisa were all friends from school. App. 274, l. 17 – 275, l. 6. Petitioner did not go to school with the other three and was older. App. 274, l. 17 – 275, l. 6.

The group ran out of money. App. 246, ll. 12 – 22. They decided to go to Koch’s house to see if Koch would pay Jenny or Lisa for sex. App. 169, l. 20 – 169, l. 2. They went to Koch’s house in Skinner’s van. App. 172, ll. 6 – 10. They arrived at Koch’s house sometime between 10:00 PM and midnight. App. 247, ll. 11 – 16.

Petitioner told the police that he, Skinner, and Jenny went to Koch’s door while Lisa stayed in the van because she was too intoxicated. App. 247, ll. 17 – 24. Koch opened the door and talked to Skinner. App. 248, ll. 2 – 8. Petitioner told the police that “all hell broke loose.” App. 248, ll. 2 – 12. “[A]ll of a sudden, Skinner went off and started attacking the old man.” App. 248, ll. 5 – 12. Petitioner told Skinner they needed to leave, but Skinner repeatedly hit Koch. App. 248, ll. 13 – 17. Koch fell to the floor, bleeding. App. 248, l. 18 – 249, l. 2. Petitioner cut his hand trying to pull Skinner off Koch. App. 249, ll. 9 – 24. Skinner took Koch’s wallet. App. 171, ll. 2 – 10. The State’s pathologist testified that Koch did not die from Skinner’s beating, but from a heart attack. App. 408, l. 11 – 411, l. 20.

Lisa, who was only charged as an accessory after the fact to robbery, testified for the State. App. 303, ll. 8 – 13. She gave three statements to the police. App. 303, ll. 2 – 4. She claimed she knew nothing about the plan to exchange sex for money at Koch’s. App. 302, ll. 8 –

18. However, she eventually admitted telling the police that “Jenny may be prostituting.” App. 315, ll. 15 – 17.

Importantly, Lisa told the police that Jenny never left the van. App. 312, ll. 24 – 25. Lisa said Skinner gave directions on the drive to Koch’s house and petitioner never said a word. App. 311, l. 22 – 312, l. 3. Skinner and petitioner were inside Koch’s house with the door closed for fifteen or twenty minutes. App. 311, ll. 6 – 18. Lisa also told the police in her first interview that when the two men returned to the van, Skinner was the only one sweating. App. 304, ll. 2 – 6.

Jenny also testified for the State and, like Lisa, was only charged with accessory after the fact to robbery. App. 335, ll. 18 – 23. Jenny described herself as a drug addict and a drifter. App. 320, ll. 12 – 18. She was living with Skinner. App. 336, l. 24 – 337, l. 1. After drinking and using crack all day, Jenny said the idea of “dancing” for Koch to make some money became “more inviting.” App. 321, l. 19 – 322, l. 8.

Directly contradicting Lisa’s testimony, Jenny testified that she did not stay in the van, but went up on Koch’s porch with Skinner and petitioner. App. 322, l. 24 – 323, l. 3. Lisa told the police that Jenny never left the van. App. 312, ll. 24 – 25.

Jenny claimed that Koch threatened to call the police and told the trio to “get out of here.” App. 324, l. 4 – 17. Fearing she would be caught driving drunk, Jenny “left the porch immediately.” App. 324, ll. 12 – 17. Unlike Lisa’s testimony that both men went into Koch’s house with the door closed, Jenny said Skinner returned to the van while petitioner talked to Koch. App. 325, ll. 1 – 13. In Jenny’s account, she backed the van out of Koch’s driveway and left with Skinner and Lisa. App. 325, ll. 1 – 18. Skinner then told her to go back to Koch’s

house on the chance that petitioner was able to talk Koch into giving them some money. App. 325, ll. 1 – 18.

Jenny turned the van around and they saw petitioner walking down the road near Koch's house. App. 328, ll. 3 – 14. Skinner briefly got out of the van to let petitioner enter and sit in the back. App. 328, l. 20 – 329, l. 12. Jenny was upset and cursing. App. 329, ll. 16 – 23. Petitioner told the group he was able to borrow \$57.00 from Koch and he gave the money to Skinner to divide. App. 329, l. 16 – 330, l. 9.

Jenny admitted lying to police. App. 332, l. 25 -333, l. 1. In her first interview she claimed she did not leave the van. App. 333, l. 2 – 334, l. 11. On cross-examination, Jenny admitted that Koch "could have" told the men to "get those whores out of here." App. 338, ll. 1 – 5. Jenny said she did not know whether Skinner was offended by Koch's description of his girlfriend and denied seeing anyone touch Koch. App. 338, ll. 6 – 23.

Skinner did not testify and was also charged with murder. App. 10, ll. 5 – 13. The State attempted to try Skinner and petitioner together, but Judge Cooper severed the trials. App. 39, ll. 5 – 8. Therefore, the jury heard several different versions of what happened the night of the crime from three sources: (1) Lisa's versions, in which Jenny never left the van and petitioner and Skinner returned from Koch's house with Skinner being the only one sweating; (2) Jenny's versions, in which she went to the door but quickly returned to the van and drove away with Lisa and Skinner, leaving petitioner at the scene alone; and (3) petitioner's statements, in which Skinner beat Koch while petitioner tried to pull Skinner away. All three of these versions could not be true and the State carried a heavy burden to persuade the jury to believe Lisa and/or Jenny and then infer petitioner killed Koch either acting alone or acting in concert with Skinner.

Before hearing these conflicting witnesses, the trial judge included the following statements in his opening instructions to the jury on how they should process evidence during the trial:

- But on the matter of evidence, you're actually a judge because when it comes to evidence, you have to judge the truthfulness and the weight and value of the things that are presented to you. App. 115, ll. 14 – 18
- But once I decide that you can hear the testimony, or that you can look at the photograph or some other item of evidence, from that point on what you do with it is entirely up to you. You've got the right to decide whether you believe it or not, how truthful it is, what weight you should give it. App. 115, l. 23 – 116, l. 3.
- Any time there is an issue that is in dispute, any time a question exists as to whether or not you're going to believe something, how do you decide? Well, you know how to decide. You use your good common sense; you use your sense of logic and reason. You apply your experiences in life. App. 116, ll. 17 – 22.
- It is a simplistic example, and I use it perhaps not meaning to demean anything that will go on in this courtroom because the issues here are far more important than this example suggests. But if any of you have more than one child, or if you've got more than one grandchild, you know exactly what I mean when the two of them come to you and one of them says he hit me, and the other says no, she hit me first. **Well, you've got to make a decision somehow or another. And somehow or another you do it.** You put the questions in your mind, you let them run through the machinery of your common sense, **and you reach a decision as to where the truth lies.** App. 116, l. 23 – 117, l. 13 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel did not object to the court's opening instructions. App. 120, ll. 7 – 13.

The solicitor ended her opening statement by telling the jury that defense counsel would “try to muddy the water for you. Mr. Hood wants you to look over here and look over here.” App. 125, ll. 17 – 21. She ended by telling the jury she wanted them to “bring back a verdict that speaks truth and justice in this case.” App. 125, ll. 22 – 25. Compounding his own error in

failing to object to the trial judge's burden shifting instructions, trial counsel then told the jury in his opening statement that his job was not to muddy the waters "because I'm here to **seek the truth**. And I think **we're all here to seek the truth**, and that's what we're all about. **That's why you're here.**" App. 127, ll. 3 – 8 (emphasis added). Bookending her opening statement and capitalizing on the trial judge's erroneous charge, the solicitor began her closing argument by telling the jury the definition of "verdict": "It means **to speak the truth**, render justice. **As the judge told you in the beginning**, and he'll remind you again at the end, **that's your duty, your job.**" App. 458, ll. 7 – 11 (emphasis added).

At the PCR hearing, petitioner extensively argued that trial counsel performed deficiently by not objecting to the court's opening instructions. App. 602, l. 13 – 612, l. 18. Petitioner argued that the trial judge's example shifted the burden of proof because "the jury does not have to choose which witness is telling the truth." App. 603, ll. 14 – 22. Petitioner cited Daniels. App. 603, ll. 14 – 22. During the discussion on whether the charge was error, the court and the parties also extensively discussed State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). The PCR court ultimately ruled that trial counsel was not deficient because "the charge was proper." App. 661-62.

The PCR court committed a legal error because the trial judge's instruction shifted the burden of proof and violated the instructions of Daniels and Aleksey. In Daniels, the trial judge erred by telling the jury that that they were "acting for the community" and "whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case." Daniels at 256-58, 737 S.E.2d at 475-76. The Court held, "It is troubling that the trial court concluded his instruction with statements that could have distracted the jury from their core functions: to examine evidence and make factual determinations, weigh credibility, and **perhaps most**

**importantly, decide whether the State has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt.”** Id. at 260, 737 S.E.2d at 478. “The injection of extraneous language only serves to distract the jury from performing their critical role.” Id.

Here, like in Daniels, the trial judge’s “extraneous language” concerning the need to decide which competing version of events was true distracted the jury from its “critical role” of deciding whether the State met its burden of proof. The jury was free to decide that neither Lisa nor Jenny were credible and that, for that reason, the State failed to prove petitioner was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. When the State’s witnesses are not credible and the proof fails, the proper resolution is an acquittal, not using common sense to “somehow” decide who is telling the truth. The jury did not have to decide “somehow or another” about which witness was telling the truth; the jury had to decide whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt. App. 116, l. 23 – 117, l. 13. The PCR court erred in finding the trial court’s charge “was proper.” App. 662.

Trial counsel performed deficiently because as early as 1998, in State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998) and again in 2000 when Aleksey was decided, burden-shifting charges were been condemned by the Supreme Court. Aleksey at 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251-52 (2000). Petitioner was tried in July 2010. App. 1. Trial counsel should have been well aware of the impropriety of jury instructions diluting the burden of proof by telling juries they needed to seek the truth or how to decide cases other than using the reasonable doubt standard. Viewing this case through the lens of ineffective assistance of counsel can remind attorneys of the importance of paying attention and critically thinking about every word the trial judge says during his charge. Trial counsel admitted at the PCR hearing that he had difficulty paying attention when the judge was speaking and, because of a courtroom’s many distractions, “you

miss things.” App. 649, l. 20 – 650, l. 4. The jurors paid attention and asked multiple questions about the law during their deliberations. App. 511, l. 10 – 557, l. 11.

Trial counsel’s error prejudiced petitioner. Petitioner’s case does not fall into the harmless error trap of the published decisions addressing burden-shifting instructions. The facts of this case involved two witnesses whose stories could not both be true. Like most criminal cases, none of the primary fact witnesses were priests, doctors, or otherwise pillars of the community; they were drug addicts and prostitutes. To prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt, the State had to convince the jury to believe witnesses whose credibility was inherently suspect.