STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2018

CERTIORARI TO BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-000182

KENNETH SAMUEL WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTIAN SAVILLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103272

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Beaufort County Clerk of Court. During its October 2007 term, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2007-GS-07-1918), first-degree burglary (2007-GS-07-1920), and strong arm robbery (2007-GS-07-1919). On July 26, 2010, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Gene Hood, Esquire (“Trial Counsel”), represented Petitioner at trial. Assistant Solicitors Angela McCall-Tanner, Esquire, and James John Bannon, Esquire, prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted of all charges. On July 29, 2010, Judge Cooper sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for thirty years for murder, thirty years for first-degree burglary, and fifteen years for strong arm robbery, all to be served concurrently.

A timely notice of appeal was filed and an appeal was perfected on Petitioner’s behalf. Appellate Defenders Susan B. Hackett and Tristan M. Shaffer, of the Office of Appellate Defense, represented Petitioner on appeal. On October 24, 2012, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions finding the trial court did not err by instructing the jury on accomplice liability or refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter. State v. Williams, Op. No. 2012-UP-573 (Ct. App. 2012). Petitioner filed a petition for a rehearing on November 6, 2012. The South Carolina Court of Appeals denied the petition on November 30, 2012. Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari on February 26, 2013. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition on June 11, 2014. The remittitur was issued June 26, 2014.

On July 30, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. The State made its return on October 26, 2015. PCR Counsel James K. Falk, Esquire, (“PCR Counsel”) filed an amended application on his behalf on September 30, 2016. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on October 17, 2016, before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Petitioner was present at the hearing. Assistant Attorney General Ruston Neely represented the State. Judge Nettles denied and dismissed the application with prejudice by order of dismissal filed December 28, 2016.

Subsequently, Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal on January 30, 2017. Petitioner then filed a petition for writ of certiorari on October 6, 2017. This return follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner’s charges resulted from an incident on September 9, 2007, in which he robbed and killed eighty-one year old Jack Koch (“Victim”) in his own home. Petitioner knew Victim and occasionally did yardwork for him. (App. p. 123, ll. 18-19). After a night of drinking and smoking crack, Petitioner and three accomplices were in search of more money and drove to Victim’s home. (App. p. 123, ll. 12-25). When Victim asked them to leave, Petitioner proceeded to force him back into his home and beat him in the head. (App. p. 124, ll. 11-15). Victim was on the floor within seconds, and the attack caused him to suffer a fatal heart attack. (App. p. 124, ll. 16-24; p. 415, ll. 8-17). While Victim was lying on the floor, they ripped his wallet out of the back pocket of his pants. (App. p. 125, l. 25 – p. 126, ll. 1-4). Victim’s son came home in the early morning hours to find Victim lying face-down on the floor in a pool of blood. (App. p. 148, l. 25 – p. 149, ll. 1-5).

RELEVANT PCR HEARING PROCEEDINGS

At the PCR hearing convened on October 17, 2016, Petitioner's PCR Counsel argued the trial judge's opening jury instruction improperly shifted the burden of proof, and specifically argued the jury instruction was contrary to this Court's holding in State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012). (App. p. 602, ll. 16-20; p. 603, ll. 2-25 – p. 604, ll. 1-17). The PCR judge noted he believed this Court in Daniels was reasoning it is not a good idea to tell a jury they need to do "what is just and what is right to everybody concerned," and the PCR judge explained such a situation is "completely different" from the present case where the jury instruction at issue was merely addressing how to resolve questions of fact. (App. p. 608, ll. 19-24). Furthermore, the State presented and distinguished State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). (App. p. 609, ll. 20-25 – p. 611, l. 1). The State also noted neither Daniels nor Aleksey resulted in reversals, and the language in the present case was less problematic than those cases. (App. p. 611, ll. 11-25 – p. 612, ll. 1-4).

Trial Counsel testified he had no concerns about the trial judge's initial instructions. (App. p. 649, ll. 20-25). While Trial Counsel explained, "you miss things," in the courtroom when the judge is speaking and your client is trying to get your attention among other distractions, but he reaffirmed he still did not believe the jury instruction was burden shifting. (App. p. 649, l. 25 – p. 650).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court must affirm the PCR court's factual findings if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (citing Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989)). This Court should reverse the PCR court only where there is no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law. Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010). This Court "gives great deference to the [PCR] court's findings of fact and conclusions of law." Id. (quoting Dempsey, 363 S.C. at 368).

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668; Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at

690). An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found Petitioner's allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the trial court's opening instruction was meritless, where the opening instruction did not improperly shift the burden of proof away from the State, but rather merely explained in layman's terms the jury's role in evaluating witnesses, and where the trial court repeatedly stressed the State's burden of proof throughout the instructions.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was deficient for not objecting to an improper burden-shifting opening instruction by the trial judge which prejudiced Petitioner by relieving the State of its burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. As the PCR court correctly found, the jury instruction did not improperly shift the burden of proof to the defense. (App. p. 662). Therefore, Trial Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the instruction, and the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to overcome the presumption Trial Counsel made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgement. (App. pp. 661-662).

Petitioner challenges the following selections from the trial judge's opening instruction:

- "But on the matter of evidence, you're actually a judge because when it comes to evidence, you have to judge the truthfulness and the weight and value of the things that are presented to you. (App. p. 115, 11. 14-18)."
- "But once I decide that you can hear the testimony, or that you can look at the photograph or some other item of evidence, from that point on what you do with it is entirely up to you. You've got the right to decide whether you believe it or not, how truthful it is, what weight you should give it." (App. p. 115, 11. 23-25 – p. 116, 1. 3).
- "Any time there is an issue that is in dispute, any time a question exists as to whether or not you're going to believe something, how do you decide? Well, you know how to decide. You use your good common sense; you use your sense of logic and reason. You apply your experiences in life." (App. p. 116, 11. 17-22).
- "It is a simplistic example, and I use it perhaps not meaning to demean anything that will go on in this courtroom because the issues here are far more important than this example suggests. But if any of you have more than one

child, or if you've got more than one grandchild, you know exactly what I mean when the two of them come to you and one of them says he hit me, and the other says no, she hit me first. Well, you've got to make a decision somehow or another. And somehow or another you do it. You put the questions in your mind, you let them run through the machinery of your common sense, and you reach a decision as to where the truth lies.” (App. p. 116, ll. 23-25 – p. 117, ll. 1-13).

Petitioner argues these selections from the jury instructions improperly shifted the burden of proof away from the State. “Jury instructions on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to ‘seek the truth’ are disfavored because they ‘[run] the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to a defendant.’” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (citing State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867-68 (1998)). “However, jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” Id. (citing State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994)). The standard of review for jury charges challenged on this basis is whether there is a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution. Id. (citing Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62 (1991); Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990)). Chief Justice Toal, concurring and writing for a majority of this Court in State v. Daniels, a case in which the trial judge instructed the jury that their verdict was to represent “truth and justice for all parties involved,” reasoned the adequacy of the trial judge’s overall instruction, which included explanations of reasonable doubt and burden of proof, cured any possible constitutional deprivation. 401 S.C. 251, 256, 737 S.E.2d 473, 475 (2012).

In this case, the PCR Court correctly observed the trial court’s opening instructions to the jury merely explained in layman’s terms how a jury can address conflict in witness testimony. (App. p. 662). The PCR Court cited Aleksey, which held there was not a reasonable likelihood

the jury applied the instruction inconsistent with the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt where the instructions concerning "seeking the truth" were given in the context of the jury's role in determining witness credibility. Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252. (App p. 662). While it should be noted neither conviction was reversed in Aleksey or Daniels, the instructions given in this case were even less problematic than either those cases. In Daniels, the trial judge instructed the jury to reach a *verdict* "seeking truth and justice for all parties involved." 401 S.C. at 256, 737 S.E.2d at 475 (emphasis added). Moreover, in Aleksey, the trial judge instructed the jury their *one single objective* was to seek the truth. 343 S.C. at 26, 538 S.E.2d at 251 (emphasis added). Nevertheless, this Court did not find either instance to be reversible error. Clearly, these charges were more ambiguous than in the present case where the trial judge merely gave a relatable example to the jury to aid in evaluating the credibility of conflicting witness testimony. At no time did the trial judge instruct or imply to the jury they only had to reach a "true" verdict rather than a verdict reflecting proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

Notwithstanding the fact the challenged selections from the jury instruction were proper, but any alleged misstatements would have been cured by the correct statements of law throughout the jury charge given by the trial court at the conclusion of all the evidence. A constitutional violation would occur if the erroneous jury instruction shifts the burden of proof to something other than the State's burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 251. Again, this evaluation must consider the jury instruction as a whole, rather than isolated portions. Id. at 28, 538 S.E.2d at 251. "In evaluating whether a PCR applicant has suffered prejudice as a result of a jury charge, the jury charge must be viewed 'in its entirety and not in isolation.'" Gibbs v. State, 403 S.C. 484, 495, 744 S.E.2d 170, 176 (2013)

(citing Battle v. State, 382 S.C. 197, 203, 675 S.E.2d 736, 739 (2009)). In this case, the trial judge repeatedly stressed the State's burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt to the jury. Early in his opening instruction, the trial judge instructed the jury that the defense was under no obligation to provide an opening statement, evidence, or testimony. (App. p. 112, ll. 21-25; p. 113, ll. 12-16). The judge instructed the jury Petitioner was presumed innocent, did not have to convince the jury of his innocence, and the burden rested on the State to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. p. 117, ll. 14-25 – p. 118, ll. 1-7). The trial judge then properly explained the concept of reasonable doubt and explained they must find Petitioner not guilty if they are not firmly convinced of his guilt after hearing all the evidence and testimony. (App. p. 118, ll. 8-22). Furthermore, the trial judge's closing jury charge reiterated the State's burden of proof and Petitioner's presumption of innocence. (App. p. 487, ll. 5-20). The trial judge further stressed that the presumption of innocence is a "substantial right," and not "an empty legal phrase." (App. p. 487, ll. 21-25). The trial judge proceeded to once again restate the State's burden of proof, and then further explained a criminal case requires more than one party's evidence to be more likely true than not true, such as in a civil trial, but rather the State must meet the more powerful burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (App. p. 488, ll. 12-20). The trial judge again explained the concept of reasonable doubt, and further instructed the jury Petitioner was entitled to "every reasonable doubt which arises in this case." (App. p. 489, ll. 8-14). In addition to the abundance of proper instruction regarding the State's burden of proof found in the trial judge's instruction, the Solicitor also stressed the State's burden of proof in her statements, specifically, "The burden of proof is all on me." (App. p. 125, ll. 13-16).

As the PCR Court correctly found, the trial judge's jury charge, in conjunction with the reasonable doubt and burden of proof charges, was an adequate and fair statement of law, and the

charge was proper. (App. p. 662). Trial Counsel therefore cannot be deficient for not objecting to a proper jury instruction. Furthermore, Petitioner cannot demonstrate prejudice from a proper jury charge which, in any event, contained abundant proper statements of law to cure any alleged misstatements. For these reasons, there is ample probative evidence and case law to support the PCR Court's dismissal of Petitioner's allegations as meritless.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests the opportunity to more fully brief the issues discussed herein.